
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, August 10, 2015

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street
Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 13

Regular PM Meeting - July 27, 2015

3. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

3.1 2015 Belgo Road, A15-0005 - Misao Koga 14 - 28

To support an application to the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for a
“Subdivision of Agricultural Land Reserve” under Section 21(2) of the
Agricultural Land Commission Act, and specifically a “Homesite Severance”
request as per Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on Agricultural Land Reserve
(ALR) Lands.

3.2 1285 Graham Road, Z15-0029 - W-Ten Development Ltd. 29 - 49

To rezone the subject property in order to construct a semi-detached dwelling.

3.3 1285 Graham Road, BL11126 (Z15-0029) - W-Ten Development Ltd. 50 - 50

To give Bylaw No. 11126 first reading in order to rezone the subject property
to construct a semi-detached dwelling.

3.4 1457 Highway 33 East, Z15-0020 - Francesco Guarini 51 - 61

To consider rezoning the subject property to facilitate the development of a
second dwelling.

1



3.5 1457 Highway 33 East, BL11129 (Z15-0020) - Francesco Guarini 62 - 62

To give Bylaw No. 11129 first reading in order to rezone the subject property
to facilitate the development of a second dwelling.

4. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

4.1 2046 Pandosy Street, BL11041 (Z14-0039) - Jacob Thiessen and Camara
Ventures Ltd.

63 - 63

To adopt Bylaw No. 11041 in order to rezone the subject property to allow a
second dwelling to be built.

4.2 BL11056 (OCP15-0002) - Shared Gardens Amendments to the Official
Community Plan

64 - 65

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To adopt Bylaw No. 11056 in order to amend the Kelowna 2030, Official
Community Plan, to include Shared Gardens.

4.3 BL11096 (TA15-0001) - Multi-Residential Shared and Community Gardens
Amendments to the Zoning Bylaw

66 - 71

To adopt Bylaw No. 11096 in order to amend the City of Kelowna's Zoning
Bylaw to include Multi-Residential Shared and Community Gardens.

4.4 1655 Leckie Road, BL11069 (LUC15-0001) - SD-39 Ventures Ltd. 72 - 73

To amend Bylaw No. 11069 at third reading to reflect the current legal
description &  address and to adopt Bylaw No. 11069 in order to discharge a
portion of Land Use Contract LUC76-1114 (M46624).

4.5 883 McCurdy Place, BL11104 (Z15-0012) - Hyatt Auto Sales Ltd. 74 - 74

To adopt Bylaw No. 11104 in order to rezone the subject property to allow
general industrial uses with outdoor storage.

5. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

5.1 Quarterly Report Update 75 - 88

To provide Council with an update of the City’s activities for the second
quarter of 2015.

5.2 Fire & Life Safety Bylaw and Bylaw Notice Enforcement - Amendments 89 - 91

To amend Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760 and Bylaw Notice Enforcement
Bylaw No. 10475 for clarity and consistency.

2



5.3 BL11116 - Amendment No. 1 to Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760 92 - 92

To give Bylaw No. 11116 first, second and third readings in order to amend Fire
and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760.

5.4 BL11117 - Amendment No. 11 to Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475 93 - 93

To give Bylaw No. 11117 first, second and third readings in order to amend
Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475.

5.5 1525 Dickson Avenue, Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and Housing
Agreement - Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd.

94 - 120

To enter into a Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and a Housing
Agreement with Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd. on the subject property.

5.6 1525 Dickson Avenue, BL11127, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw -
Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd.

121 - 128

To give Bylaw No. 11127 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter into a Housing Agreement with Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd.
on the subject property.

5.7 2127 Ethel Street, Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement & Housing
Agreement - Simple Pursuits Inc.

129 - 150

To enter into a Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and a Housing
Agreement with Simple Pursuits on the subject property.

5.8 2127 Ethel Street, BL11128, Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw - Simple
Pursuits Inc.

151 - 158

To give Bylaw No. 11128 first, second and third readings in order to authorize
the City to enter into a Housing Agreement with Simple Pursuits Inc. on the
subject property.

5.9 Fringe Area Planning Agreement 159 - 169

To obtain Council’s endorsement of the proposed agreement with the Regional
District of Central Okanagan (RDCO) addressing fringe area planning.

5.10 Revitalization Tax Exemption – Area 3 Update 170 - 184

To provide Council with a detailed update on the status of Tax Incentive Area 3
and to obtain final approval not to extend the exemptions in the area.

5.11 Amendment to Sanitary Sewer Spec. Area No. 18 (Caramillo) 185 - 187

To submit the Certificate of Sufficiency for the Local Area Service to add 589
Clifton Avenue to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 (Caramillo).

3



5.12 BL11125 - Amendment No. 1 to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 Bylaw No.
7724 (Caramillo)

188 - 190

To give Bylaw No. 11125 first, second and third readings in order to amend
Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 (Caramillo)

6. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

6.1 BL11115, Name Change Bylaw - Renaming a Portion of Quail Ridge Boulevard to
Pier Mac Way

191 - 192

To adopt Bylaw No. 11115 in order to rename a portion of Quail Ridge
Boulevard to Pier Mac Way.

7. Mayor and Councillor Items

8. Termination

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: August 10, 2015 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (MS) 

Application: A15-0005 Owner:   Misao Koga 

Address: 2015 Belgo Road Applicant: Misao Koga 

Subject: Subdivision in the Agricultural Land Reserve – Homesite Severance 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 - Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal A15-0005 for Lot B Section 14 Township 26 ODYD Plan 
1845 located at 2015 Belgo Road for a subdivision of agricultural land in the Agricultural Land 
Reserve, be supported by Municipal Council; 

AND THAT Municipal Council forward the subject application to the Agricultural Land 
Commission. 

2.0 Purpose 

To support an application to the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for a “Subdivision of 
Agricultural Land Reserve” under Section 21(2) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act, and 
specifically a “Homesite Severance” request as per Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on 
Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) Lands. 

3.0 Community Planning 

Community Planning supports the application for a Homesite Severance in the ALR. However, 
staff notes that the Ministry of Agriculture’s Guide for Bylaw Development in Farming Areas1 
cites a maximum area of 0.2 ha (0.5 acre) as a standard farm residential footprint. (See 
attached, Minister’s Bylaw Standards excerpt). The requested Homesite is 0.4 ha (0.98 acre), and 
as such, is larger than recommended by Ministry standards. 

 

                                                      
1 Ministry of Agriculture, 2015.  Guide for Bylaw Development in Farming Areas. 

http://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/DownloadAsset?assetId=E5EF85D8EF2D4C939D51C472DC0C4A51&filename=840000-

1_guide_for_bylaw_development_in_farming_areas_april24_2015.pdf 

 

14

http://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/DownloadAsset?assetId=E5EF85D8EF2D4C939D51C472DC0C4A51&filename=840000-1_guide_for_bylaw_development_in_farming_areas_april24_2015.pdf
http://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/DownloadAsset?assetId=E5EF85D8EF2D4C939D51C472DC0C4A51&filename=840000-1_guide_for_bylaw_development_in_farming_areas_april24_2015.pdf


A15-0005 – Page 2 

 
 

 

The City’s Agriculture Plan recommends continued support for homesite severance applications 
consistent with ALC Policy #11, which allows farmers to retire or sell the property while retaining 
the homesite.  ALC policies state that consideration of any homesite severance should be 
reviewed in the context of the overall agricultural integrity of the parcel, where the size and 
configuration will, in the Commission’s opinion, constitute a viable agricultural remainder.  To 
this end, homesite severance parcels should be minimized in size to help ensure the remainder is 
viable.  This is particularly important in Kelowna where parcel sizes are already small.    

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The applicants are seeking a two lot subdivision for the purpose of a homesite severance.  The 
owner purchased the subject property in 1969 and therefore qualifies for consideration of a 
homesite severance. 

The proposal is to subdivide the existing homesite which is located near the east property line. A 
second dwelling on the property will be included in the proposed farm remainder.  The applicant 
is seeking a 0.4 ha (0.98 ac) subdivision for the homesite (plans attached). 

The remainder of the property is currently farmed as an orchard.  The remainder parcel would be 
5.2 ha (12.86 ac) if the subdivision is permitted as proposed. Of the remainder, 0.42 ha (1 acre) 
is steep, unfarmed bench lands at the west of the property. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the Belgo – Black Mountain Sector of the City.  It is surrounded 
by agricultural land in the ALR. To the west, across from Hollywood Road South and 25 metres 
below the main portion of the property, is a rural residential property. It is outside the 
Permanent Growth Boundary according to the Official Community Plan. 

 

Parcel Summary: 

 Parcel Size: 5.2 ha (13.84 ac) 
Elevation: 482 metres above sea level (masl) to 479 masl, with a bench falling to 454 

masl over the last 50 metres of the property at the west, down to 
Hollywood Road South 

 
4.3 Zoning of Adjacent Property 

Direction Zoning Designation Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture  

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture 

West RR2 – Rural Residential 2 Rural Residential 

 
  

15



A15-0005 – Page 3 

 
 

Figure 1 – Neighbourhood Context  

 
 

Figure 2 – Agricultural Land Reserve 

 
 
  

Subject Property 

Agricultural 

Area 

Agricultural 

Area 

 

Mission Creek 

 

ALR 

Subject Property 

ALR 

16



A15-0005 – Page 4 

 
 

Figure 3 – Slopes 

 
 
Figure 4 – Proposed Homesite Severance 

 
 
  

25 metre bench to 

Hollywood Road South 

Subject Property 

Farm Remainder 

Proposed 

Homesite 

Lot 

Dwelling and 

Accessory 

Building on Farm 

Remainder 

17



A15-0005 – Page 5 

 
 

Figure 5 – Proposed Homesite  

 
 
Figure 6 – Proposed Lot 

 
  

Farm Remainder Proposed 

Homesite Lot 

Dwelling and 

Accessory 

Building on Farm 

Remainder 

Proposed 

Homesite Lot 

56 m approx. 

68 m 

approx. 

0.4 Ha 

18



A15-0005 – Page 6 

 
 

Date of Application Received:   April 14, 2015  
 
Date Circulation Completed:    May 14, 2015 

Agricultural Advisory Committee   June 11, 2015 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting held on June 11, 2015 and the following recommendation was passed: 

MOVED BY Ed Schiller /SECONDED By Keith Duhaime  

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends that Council support an application to 
the Agricultural Land Commission for a “Subdivision of Agricultural Land Reserve” under Section 
21(2) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act for a Homesite Severance on Agricultural Land 
Reserve (ALR) Lands located at 2015 Belgo Road.  

Carried 

 

 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
  Todd Cashin, Manager, Suburban and Rural Planning 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Manager, Community Planning 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning & 
Real Estate 

 

Attachments:  

Schedule A – Policies 
Schedule B – Technical Comments 
Ministry of Agriculture – Guide for Bylaw Development in Farming Areas – Residential Footprint  
Subject Property / ALR Map 
Proposed Homesite Severance Plans 
 

19



 

 

SCHEDULE A - Policies 
 
 
 

Subject: 2015 Belgo Road – Homesite Severance 

 

1.0 Current Development Policies 

1.1 Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Protect and enhance local agriculture1. 

Policy 5.33.8 Subdivision.  Maximize potential for the use of farmland by not allowing the 
subdivision of agricultural land into smaller parcels (with the exception of Homesite 
Severances approved by the ALC) except where significant positive benefits to 
agriculture can be demonstrated. 

Policy 5.33.9 Housing in Agricultural Areas. Discourage residential development (both 
expansions and new developments) in areas isolated within agricultural environments 
(both ALR and non-ALR). 

Preserve productive agricultural land2. 

Policy 5.34.3 Homeplating. Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and 
farm retail sales area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one 
another and where appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to 
maximize use of existing infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural 
lands. 

1.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

ALR Application Criteria3 

Urban - Rural/Agricultural Boundary Policies4 

Homesite Severance – Continue to support the concept of homesite severance, consistent with 
Agricultural Land Commission Policy #025/78 [11]5. 
 

1.3 Agricultural Land Commission Policy #11- Homesite Severance on ALR Lands 

Persons making use of this policy should understand clearly that6:  
a. no one has an automatic right to a "homesite severance";  
b. the Commission shall be the final arbiter as to whether a particular "homesite severance" 

meets good land use criteria;  
c. a prime concern of the Commission will always be to ensure that the "remainder" will 

constitute a suitable agricultural parcel. 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan – Chapter 5 – Development Process; pp. 5.33 & 5.34. 
2 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  
3 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 
4 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131. 
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 85. 
6 Agricultural Land Commission – Policy #11 – Homesite Severance on ALR Lands (http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/policies/Pol11-
03_homesite-severance.htm)  

20

http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/policies/Pol11-03_homesite-severance.htm
http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/policies/Pol11-03_homesite-severance.htm


A15-0005 – Page 2 

 
 

File A15-0005  August 10, 2015 

4. There will be cases where the Commission considers that good land use criteria rule out any 
subdivision of the land because subdivision would compromise the agricultural integrity of the 
area, and the Commission must therefore exercise its discretion to refuse the "homesite 
severance".  

Where the Commission decides to allow a "homesite severance", there are two options:  

a) the existing homesite may be created as a separate parcel where it is of a minimum size 
compatible with the character of the property (plus a reasonable area, where required, 
for legal access purposes); or 

b) where the location of the existing homesite is such that the creation of a parcel 
encompassing the homesite would, in the Commission’s opinion, create potential 
difficulty for the agricultural operation or management of the "remainder", the 
Commission may, as it deems appropriate, approve the creation of a parcel elsewhere on 
the subject property.  

5. The remainder of the subject property after severance of the homesite must be of a size and 
configuration that will, in the Commission’s opinion, constitute a suitable agricultural parcel. 
Where, in the Commission’s opinion, the "remainder" is of an unacceptable size or configuration 
from an agricultural perspective, there are three options: 

a) the Commission may deny the "homesite severance"; 
b) the Commission may require that the "remainder" be consolidated with an adjacent 

parcel; or 
c) the Commission may require the registration of a covenant against the title of the 

"remainder" and such a covenant may prohibit the construction of dwellings. 
 

21



 

File A15-0005  August 10, 2015 

SCHEDULE B – Technical Comments 
 
 
 

 

 

Subject: 

 
 
 
A15—0005 2015 Belgo Road – Homesite Severance 

 

1.1 Building & Permitting Department 

No Comment. 

1.2 Development Engineering Department 

Development Engineering has no comments or requirements at this point in time with regard to this 
application. A report will be provided at the time of development application submission when the 
Agricultural Land Commission agrees to the Homesite severance. 
 

22



PART 2  -  MINISTER’S BYLAW STANDARDS 
  

GUIDE FOR BYLAW DEVELOPMENT IN FARMING AREAS PAGE 17 

 
 

1. The maximum setback 
from the front lot line to 
the rear or opposite side 
of the farm residential 
footprint is 60 metres, 
and  

2. The maximum setback 
from the front lot line to 
the rear of the principal 
farm residence or 
additional farm 
residence is 50 metres to 
allow for a 10 metre deep 
back yard.  

3. Lots narrower than 33 
metres are exempted 
from the 60 metre 
maximum setback (for 
the farm residential 
footprint) from the front 
lot line, however, the 
footprint must fill the 
front of the lot to a 
maximum of 2000 m2 
(refer to Figure 2). There 
is no exemption for the 
50 metre maximum 
setback for the residence.  

4. Lots greater than 60 
hectares4 are exempted 
from the maximum road 
setbacks for the 
residence and the farm 
residential footprint.   

                                                   
4 This exemption recognizes that large lot sizes minimize farm practice issues and the area is likely to be 
very rural. 

Figure 1   Maximum Road Setbacks 

23



PART 2  -  MINISTER’S BYLAW STANDARDS 
  

PAGE 18 GUIDE FOR BYLAW DEVELOPMENT IN FARMING AREAS 

 

 

 

Maximum farm 
residential 

footprint  area 
=  2,000 sq. m. 

20 
m 

ROAD 

Maximum 
setback to 
rear of 
house = 50 
m 100 m 

Example: 
Lot width = 20 
m 
Footprint area = 
2,000 sq. m. 
Calculate 
allowed 
footprint depth: 
2,000 / 20 = 100 
m 

HOUSE 

FARM 
RESIDENTIAL 
FOOTPRINT 

  

Figure 2   Footprint on a Narrow Lot 

24



PART 2  -  MINISTER’S BYLAW STANDARDS 
  

GUIDE FOR BYLAW DEVELOPMENT IN FARMING AREAS PAGE 19 

2.4.6.5.2 Farm Residential Footprint Size5 

The maximum size of the farm residential footprint is: 
a) the lesser of a footprint commensurate with urban areas; or 
b) 2,000 m2; plus 

a. 1000 m2 for each additional farm residence where permitted; plus 
b. 35 m2 for each temporary farm worker housing space where permitted. 

 
2.4.6.5.3 Maximum Floor Area-Farm Residences  

The Minister’s Bylaw Standard does not include size restrictions for the floor area-farm 
residences. However, the following is offered as a suggestion where local governments 
wish to include these restrictions in their bylaws.  
The maximum floor area-farm residence(s) is the lesser of a floor area commensurate 
with urban areas or:  

a) 500 m2 for principal farm residence; 
b) 300 m2 for each additional farm residence where permitted; and 
c) 15 m2 for each temporary farm worker housing space where permitted6.  

2.4.7 Height Limitations 
Local governments are encouraged to exclude farm buildings from restrictions on 
height. Crop protection and support structures such as deer fencing, netting supports 
and trellises must be excluded from height requirements. If a local government wishes 
to restrict height of farm structures then the maximum building heights should be no 
less than: 
 

Grain bins (including delivery equipment) 46 metres 
Silos 34 metres 
Combination Silo and Grain Storages 41 metres 
Principal livestock buildings 15 metres 
All other agricultural buildings 15 metres 

 
These height limitations should be the minimum height restriction placed on farm 
buildings in a zoning bylaw. If a local government wishes to allow buildings higher than 
these or wishes to exempt these buildings from the height restrictions, then the zoning 
bylaw will still be considered in accordance with this section.  

2.4.8 Setbacks 
Appropriate setback distances can help prevent nuisance conflicts, protect natural 
resources, and safeguard human health. On the other hand, excessive setbacks can 
present serious challenges to farming operations. The standards in this section seek to 
strike a balance by recommending setbacks that are large enough to reduce conflict 

                                                   
5 The farm residential footprint size is considered density and would require a rezoning application to 
vary. 
6 Federal programs allow 10 m2 of useable floor area which excludes washrooms, laundry, mechanical and 
storage rooms. 

25



26



27



28



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: July 27, 2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (TY) 

Application: Z15-0029 Owner: 
W-Ten Development Ltd., 
Inc. No. BC0720702 

Address: 1285 Graham Road Applicant: 
Urban Options Planning & 
Permits 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single/Two Unit Residential  

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing  

Proposed Zone: RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing  

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z15-0029 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 78 Section 22 Township 26 ODYD Plan 19162, located at 
1285 Graham Road, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6 - Two 
Dwelling Housing zone, be approved by Council; 

AND THAT the Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch and Rutland Waterworks District completed 
to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose  

To rezone the subject property in order to construct a semi-detached dwelling. 

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning supports the proposed rezoning on the subject property. The property is 
designated in Kelowna’s Official Community Plan as S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential which 
permits the RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing zone.   

  

29



Z15-0029 – Page 2 

 
 

 

The proposed design put forth by the applicant shows private open space in open lawn areas as 
well as covered balconies and patios. The applicant has worked with Staff to avoid a street 
frontage dominated by garage doors and hard surface driveway areas. Along the Graham Road 
frontage of the house, the two garage doors are offset from one another and the unit entrances 
are proposed with rooflines that are brought towards the street to draw the eye to the front 
doors. While these measures do assist in reducing the impact of the garage doors facing the 
street, the applicant has also incorporated landscaping between the two units that extends to 
the property line to help soften the front yard. 

The OCP seeks to allow two dwelling housing in this neighbourhood. The architectural style 
proposed by the applicant will complement and enhance the existing neighbouring streetscape 
and does not trigger any variances.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property currently contains a 1970s single family dwelling with a suite. The applicant 
is seeking to demolish the existing house and construct a two unit semi-detached house.  

4.2 Project Description 

The architectural style of the proposed two storey house compliments the character of the 
neighbourhood and even enhances the current streetscape by incorporating varying setbacks from 
the front property line. Hardiplank composite siding brings a welcome improvement to the 
neighbourhood proposed in a colour that blends with other homes on the block. While the front 
door to each unit is recessed from the garages, the entry is accentuated with a roof line that is 
brought forward towards the street. The proposed massing and roofline of the entire house brings 
down the scale of the two storey home by stepping the second storey back from the front and 
side property lines. 

The driveway layout seeks to minimize the look of hard surface paving in the front yard by 
separating the two driveways and minimizing each width to 4.0 m at the property line. Between 
the two driveways landscaping is proposed to further soften the front streetscape. Although 
Kelowna’s OCP does speak to reducing driveways of two unit dwellings to a single driveway, a 
preliminary design put forth by the applicant showed minimal planting between the two garages 
and a vast amount of hard surface paving. The front yard landscaping as proposed will be vital to 
a successful streetscape of a house where the garage door takes up more than 50% of the street 
frontage.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the south side of Graham Road, between Thompson Road and 
Ace Road in the Rutland sector of Kelowna. The property is zoned RU1, identified in Kelowna’s 
OCP as S2RES, and is within the Permanent Growth Boundary. 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 Single Family House 

East RU6 Duplex House 

South RU1 Single Family House with a suite 

West RU6 Duplex House 

30



Z15-0029 – Page 3 

 
 

 

31



Z15-0029 – Page 4 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 1285 Graham Road 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU6 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Minimum Lot Area 700 m2 929 m2 

Minimum Lot Width  18.0 m 24.0 m 

Minimum Lot Depth  30.0 m 38.1 m 

Development Regulations 
Maximum Site Coverage 
(buildings) 

40% 38% 

Maximum Site Coverage 
(buildings, driveways and parking) 

50% 48% 

Maximum Height 9.5 m or 2.5 storeys 7.6 m / 2 storeys 

Minimum Front Yard 4.5 m to house 6.0 to garage 6.1 m to garage 

Minimum Side Yard (west) 
2.0 m up to 1.5 storey  
2.3 m up to 2.5 storeys 

2.0 m for 1st storey  
3.2 for 2nd storey 

Minimum Side Yard (east) 
2.0 m up to 1.5 storey  
2.3 m up to 2.5 storeys 

2.0 m for 1st storey  
3.2 for 2nd storey 

Minimum Rear Yard 7.5 m 12.0 m 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 4 stalls 6 stalls  

Minimum Private Open Space 30 m2  30 m2 

 

  

Springfield Rd 

Graham Rd 

32



Z15-0029 – Page 5 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Sensitive Infill2 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential areas to be 
sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighbourhood with respect to building design, height 
and siting. 

Duplex Housing3 Design as separate units rather than a single large structure through 
architectural detailing and elements, offsetting units, variations in roof design, height and 
massing, and building articulation; 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation and NAFS are 
being applied to this structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached Memorandum dated June 26, 2015 

6.3 FortisBC Inc - Electric 

 There are primary distribution facilities along Graham Rd. The applicant is responsible for 
costs associated with any change to the subject property's existing service, if any, as well 
as the provision of appropriate land rights where required 

6.4 Rutland Waterworks District 

 See attached Summary of Requirements dated June 9, 2015 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  May 29, 2015  
Date Public Consultation Completed: June 16, 2015  
 
  

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.6 (Development Process Chapter) 
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 3.2 (Development Permit Areas Chapter) 

33



Z15-0029 – Page 6 

 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Tracey Yuzik, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Lindsey Ganczar, Planning Supervisor 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 
Conceptual Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Conceptual Landscape Plan 
Context/Site Photos 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Irrigation District Summary of Requirements 

34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11126 
Z15-0029 – W-Ten Development Ltd., Inc. No. BC0720702  

1285 Graham Road 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 78, Section 22, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 19162 located on Graham 
Road, Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU6 – Two Dwelling 
Housing zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 
 

50



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: August 10, 2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (LB) 

Application: Z15-0020 Owner: Francesco Guarini 

Address: 1457 Highway 33 East Applicant: Francesco Guarini 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing  

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z15-0020 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 2, Section 13, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 23518 Except 
Plan KAP86904, located at 1457 Highway 33 East, Kelowna, BC from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to 
the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Rezoning Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the requirements of 
the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the requirements of 
the Black Mountain Irrigation District being completed to their satisfaction; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Rezoning Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure being completed to their 
satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider rezoning the subject property to facilitate the development of a second dwelling. 

3.0 Community Planning  

Community Planning Staff supports the request to rezone the subject property from the A1 – 
Agriculture 1 zone to the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone. The applicant intends to construct a 
second single detached house in the northwest portion of the property. The existing single 
detached house is to be retained, and its location accommodates the development of a second 

51



Z15-0020 – Page 2 

 
 

single detached house under provisions of the RU6 zone. The lot dimensions meet the 
requirements for two dwelling housing and the conceptual site plan provided by the applicant 
meets the requirements of the Zoning Bylaw. 

The property is within a small development of residential lots south of Highway 33 East that, 
although currently zoned A1, has a Future Land Use designation of S2RES – Single / Two Unit 
Residential in the Official Community Plan. The RU6 zone complies with the Future Land Use 
designation and would allow for some additional density on this large property. 

Pursuant to Section 52 of the Transportation Act, the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure has granted preliminary approval of the rezoning request subject to no direct 
access being provided to Highway 33. The conceptual site plan shows the existing driveway 
access along Traut Road being used for the second house and no new access is proposed. 

Should Council choose to support this rezoning application, the applicant will submit a 
Development Permit application to consider the form and character of the second dwelling. As 
per Schedule 3 of the City of Kelowna Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the 
authority to approve and issue this Development Permit is delegated to the Community Planning 
Department Manager. Issuance of an approved Development Permit is required prior to issuance 
of any Building Permits for this development. 

In fulfillment of Council Policy No. 367 respecting public consultation, the applicant undertook 
neighbour consultation by individually contacting neighbouring properties within 50 m. No major 
concerns were identified during this consultation. At the time of writing, Staff has not been 
contacted with any questions or concerns about the application. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the southeast corner of the intersection of Highway 33 East 
and Traut Road in the City’s Belgo – Black Mountain Sector. The property is designated S2RES – 
Single / Two Unit Residential in the Official Community Plan and is within the Permanent Growth 
Boundary. The surrounding area is characterized by single dwelling housing development and 
agricultural land. 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU2 – Medium Lot Housing Single dwelling housing 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Single dwelling housing 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Single dwelling housing 

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Agriculture 

 

  

52



Z15-0020 – Page 3 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 1457 Highway 33 East 

 

4.2 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU6 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Minimum Lot Area 800 m2 1,225 m2 

Minimum Lot Width 20.0 m 33.8 m 

Minimum Lot Depth 30.0 m 44.6 m 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Complete Communities.1 Support the development of complete communities with a minimum 
intensity of approximately 35-40 people and / or jobs per hectare to support basic transit service 
– a bus every 30 minutes. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 No comments. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached memorandum, dated May 15, 2015. 

6.3 Black Mountain Irrigation District 

 See attached letter, dated June 5, 2015. 

                                                           
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.4 (Development Process Chapter). 

53



Z15-0020 – Page 4 

 
 

6.4 Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure  

 Preliminary approval is granted for the rezoning for one year subject to the condition of 
no direct access to Highway 33. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  April 30, 2015  
Date Public Consultation Completed: July 10, 2015  
 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Lindsey Ganczar, Planning Supervisor 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Black Mountain Irrigation District Letter 
Conceptual Site Plan 

54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11129 
Z15-0020 – Francesco Guarini  

1457 Highway 33 East 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 2, Section 13, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 23518 Except Plan KAP 
86904 located on Highway 33 East, Kelowna, B.C., from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to 
the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 
 

62



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11041 
Z14-0039 – Jacob Thiessen and Camara Ventures Ltd.  

2046 Pandosy Street 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Lot 1, Block 8, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 348, Except Plan 14193 and 
KAP91738, located on Pandosy Street, Kelowna, B.C., from the RU1 – Large Lot 
Housing zone to the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 8th day of December, 2014. 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 13th day of January, 2015. 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 13th day of January, 2015. 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act this 15th day of January, 20145. 
 
 
______________Audrie Henry__________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 

63



 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11056 
 

Official Community Plan Amendment No. OCP15 – 0002 
Shared Gardens Amendments to Official Community Plan  

Bylaw No. 10500 

 
A bylaw to amend the "Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT Chapter 5 – Development Process, Objective 5.2 Develop sustainability be 
amended by adding in its appropriate location the following new Policy .5 with the 
Economic Sustainability, Social Sustainability, Environmental Sustainability and 
Cultural Sustainability  icons that reads: 
 
“Policy .5 Integrated Land Use.  Integrate land use approaches wherever possible 

to improve opportunities for biodiversity, ecosystem connectivity, 
recreation, agriculture and local food production, while reducing 
conflicts.” 

 
2. AND THAT Chapter 5 – Development Process, Objective 5.13 Develop process be 

amended by adding in its appropriate location the following new Policy .13 with the 
Economic Sustainability, Social Sustainability, Environmental Sustainability and 
Cultural Sustainability  icons that reads: 
 
“Policy .4 Multi-Residential Shared Garden.  Encourage new development to 

include contiguous space intended for garden space for residents.” 
 

3. AND THAT Chapter 14 – Urban Design DP Guidelines, 10.0 Decks, balconies, rooftops, 
and common outdoor amenity space be amended by adding a new 10.5 as follows: 
 
“10.5 Multi-Residential Shared Garden plots should: 

 Take inspiration from the site’s architecture and landscape treatments for 
design and layout. 

 Be located to maximize sunlight access. 

 Incorporate enhanced universal accessibility features on some plots. 

 Ensure landscape installation standards including growing medium depth 

and quality meet the requirements of the BC Landscape Standard (Latest 

Edition) and/or the Master Municipal Construction Document (Year 2000 

Gold Edition).” 

 

 

64



 
 

4. AND THAT Chapter 17 – Definitions, be amended by adding a new section F with a 
new definition for Food Security as follows: 
 
“FOOD SECURITY 
All community residents have access to sufficient, safe, healthy and culturally 
acceptable foods produced in a manner that promotes health, protects the 
environment and adds economic and social value to communities.” 
 

5. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 
from the date of adoption. 

 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 1st day of June, 2015. 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 16th day of June, 2015. 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 16th day of June, 2015. 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk

 
 

 
 

 

65



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11096 
TA15-0001 – Amendments to Include Multi-Residential Shared 

and Community Gardens 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000, Section 2 – Interpretation be amended 
by adding the following new definitions in their appropriate location: 
 
“COMMUNITY GARDEN means the recreational growing of plants, on a publically or 
privately owned parcel, and does not include the growing and subsequent sale of 
produce for commercial purposes. This use is limited to production activities which are 
not deemed to be noxious or offensive to adjacent properties or the general public. 
This definition does not include the keeping of poultry and/or livestock. 
 
MULTI-RESIDENTIAL SHARED GARDEN means a portion of a parcel, shared with a 
multi-residential dwelling that is used for the recreational growing of plants for food 
and/or pleasure for the residents of the multi-residential dwelling. It does not include 
the growing and sale of produce for commercial purposes.” 
 

2. AND THAT Section 9 – Specific Use Regulations be amended by adding the following 
new sub-sections as follows in their appropriate location: 
 
 
“9.11 Multi-Residential Shared Garden 
 
  
9.11.1  A Multi-residential shared garden must be solely for the use of the 

residents on the parcel. Multi-residential shared gardens shall: 
   

(a) be screened from adjacent streets and/or parking area by landscaping; 
(b) be integrated into the overall landscape design; 
(c) be located on a parcel where exposure to sunlight is optimal; 
(d) have no outdoor storage of equipment  and materials related to the 

multi-residential shared garden kept on the parcel;  
(e) not have equipment, building or structures of any sort within 3m of a 

property line flanking a street; 
(f) an accessory building or structure may be constructed to support a 

multi-residential shared garden which may be no larger than 30m2 ; 
(g) have an easily accessible water source; 
(h) not block emergency routes or access; 
(i) follow the City of Kelowna’s Pesticide Use Regulation Bylaw No. 9920; 
(j) not take up a designated vehicle parking or loading spaces; and 
(k) provide an onsite location for odour-free organic waste disposal or 

transport organic waste to a suitable disposal facility. 
 

9.11.2  Multi- residential Shared Gardens shall provide a minimum of one garden 
plot that is universally accessible, a minimum of 0.75m high and located 
closest to the principal building and/or multi-residential shared garden 
entrance. 

66



 
9.12  Community Garden 
 
 
9.12.1  In order to be permitted on a parcel a Community Garden  shall: 
 

(a) conform to the applicable zoning requirements for accessory buildings 
or structures, or greenhouse when accommodating these structures in 
conjunction with a community garden; 

(b) be delineated from adjacent streets and/or parking areas by 
landscaping; 

(c) have no or materials related to the community garden stored outside 
on the parcel; 

(d) not have any equipment, building or structures of any sort within 3m of 
an adjacent street; 

(e) have an easily accessible water source; 
(f) follow the City of Kelowna’s Pesticide Use Regulation Bylaw No. 9920; 
(g) provide an onsite location for odour-free organic waste disposal or 

transport organic waste to a suitable disposal facility; 
(h) not take up designated vehicle parking or loading spaces; and 
(i) be limited to one freestanding sign or a fence mounted sign  that is a 

maximum of 2.0m high and a maximum of 3.0m2 sign area that displays 
the name of the community garden.” 
 

3. AND THAT Section 12 – Rural Residential Zones be amended by: 
 
a) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub-

Section 12.1.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

b) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 12.2.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
c) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 12.3.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs. 
 

4. AND THAT Section 13 – Urban Residential Zones be amended by: 
 
a) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.1.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

b) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 13.2.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
c) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.3.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

d) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 13.4.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
e) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.5.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

f) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 13.6.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
g) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.7.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

67



h) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 13.8.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

i) adding “Multi-Residential Shared Gardens” as a Secondary Use, it is appropriate 
location in Sub-Section 13.8.3 Secondary Uses and renumber subsequent 
subparagraphs; 
 

j) adding to Sub-Section 13.8.6 Development Regulations, a new sub-paragraphs (i) 
and (j) that reads: 
 
“(i) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing, group home, 

major or supportive housing, major developments up to 1.0m of 
required rear yard landscaping buffer may be transferred to a multi-
residential shared garden on the same parcel. 

 
(j) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing or group home, 

major developments 10% of the private open space requirement per 
unit may be transferred to a multi-residential shared garden located 
on the same parcel.” 

 
k) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.9.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

l) adding “Multi-Residential Shared Gardens” as a Secondary Use, it is appropriate 
location in Sub-Section 13.9.3 Secondary Uses and renumber subsequent 
subparagraphs; 
 

m) adding to Sub-Section 13.9.6 Development Regulations, a new sub-paragraphs (h) 
and (i) that reads: 
 
“(h) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing, group home, 

major or supportive housing, major developments up to 1.0m of 
required rear yard landscaping buffer may be transferred to a multi-
residential shared garden on the same parcel. 

 
(i) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing or group home, 

major developments 10% of the private open space requirement per 
unit may be transferred to a multi-residential shared garden located 
on the same parcel.”  

 
n) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.10.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

o) adding “Multi-Residential Shared Gardens” as a Secondary Use, it is appropriate 
location in Sub-Section 13.10.3 Secondary Uses and renumber subsequent 
subparagraphs; 
 

p) adding to Sub-Section 13.10.6 Development Regulations, a new sub-paragraphs 
(h) and (i) that reads: 
 
“(h) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing, group home, 

major or supportive housing, major developments up to 1.0m of 
required rear yard landscaping buffer may be transferred to a multi-
residential shared garden on the same parcel. 

 
(i) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing or group home, 

major developments 10% of the private open space requirement per 

68



unit may be transferred to a multi-residential shared garden located 
on the same parcel.”  

 
q) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.11.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

r) adding “Multi-Residential Shared Gardens” as a Secondary Use, it is appropriate 
location in Sub-Section 13.11.3 Secondary Uses and renumber subsequent 
subparagraphs; 
 

s) adding to Sub-Section 13.11.6 Development Regulations, a new sub-paragraphs 
(g) and (h) that reads: 
 
“(g) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing, group home, 

major or supportive housing, major developments up to 1.0m of 
required rear yard landscaping buffer may be transferred to a multi-
residential shared garden on the same parcel. 

(h) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing or group home, 
major developments 10% of the private open space requirement per 
unit may be transferred to a multi-residential shared garden located 
on the same parcel.”  

 
t) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.12.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

u) adding “Multi-Residential Shared Gardens” as a Secondary Use, it is appropriate 
location in Sub-Section 13.12.3 Secondary Uses and renumber subsequent 
subparagraphs; 
 

v) adding to Sub-Section 13.12.6 Development Regulations, a new sub-paragraphs 
(g) and (h) that reads: 
 
“(g) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing, group home, 

major or supportive housing, major developments up to 1.0m of 
required rear yard landscaping buffer may be transferred to a multi-
residential shared garden on the same parcel. 

 
(h) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing or group home, 

major developments 10% of the private open space requirement per 
unit may be transferred to a multi-residential shared garden located 
on the same parcel.”  

 
w) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.13.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

x) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 13.14.3 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
y) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 13.15.3 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; and 
 

z) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 13.16.3 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs;  

 
aa) adding “Multi-Residential Shared Gardens” as a Secondary Use, it is appropriate 

location in Sub-Section 13.16.4 Secondary Uses and renumber subsequent 
subparagraphs; 
 

69



 
bb) adding to Sub-Section 13.16.7 Development Regulations, a new sub-paragraphs 

(c) and (d) that reads: 
 
“(c) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing, group home, 

major or supportive housing, major developments up to 1.0m of 
required rear yard landscaping buffer may be transferred to a multi-
residential shared garden on the same parcel. 

 
(d) For multiple dwelling housing, congregate housing or group home, 

major developments 10% of the private open space requirement per 
unit may be transferred to a multi-residential shared garden located 
on the same parcel.” 

 
5. AND THAT Section 14 – Commercial Zones be amended by: 

 
a) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 14.1.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

b) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 14.2.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
c) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 14.3.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

d) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 14.4.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
e) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 14.5.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

f) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 14.6.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
g) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 14.7.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

h) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 14.8.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
i) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 14.9.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; and 
 

j) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 14.10.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs. 
 

6. AND THAT Section 16 – Public & Insttutional Zones be amended by: 
 
a) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 16.1.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 
b) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 16.2.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

c) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 16.3.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 

70



d) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 16.4.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
e) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 16.5.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

f) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 16.6.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
g) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 

Section 16.7.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 
 

h) adding “Community Garden” as a Principal Use, it is appropriate location in Sub 
Section 16.8.2 Principal Uses and renumber subsequent subparagraphs; 

 
 

7. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 
from the date of adoption. 

 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 1st day of June, 2015. 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 16th day of June, 2015. 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 16th day of June, 2015. 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act this 15th day of July, 2015. 
 
 
_____________________Audrie Henry___________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 

71



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11069 
 
 

Discharge of a Portion of Land Use Contract  
LUC76-1114 - (M46624)  

1655 Leckie Road 
 
 
WHEREAS a land use (the “Land Use Contract”) is registered at the Kamloops Land 
Title Office under number M46624 against lands in the City of Kelowna particularly 
known and described as a portion of Lot A, District Lots 125 and 532, ODYD, Plan 
EPP51237 (the “Lands”), located at 1655 Leckie Road, Kelowna, B.C., as per Map “A” 
attached to and forming part of this bylaw; 
 
WHEREAS Section 930 of the Local Government Act provides that a land use contract 
that is registered in a Land Title Office may be discharged in the manner specified in 
the Land Use Contract, by bylaw following a public hearing on the proposed bylaw; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting 
assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Portion of Land Use Contract 

LUC76-1114 Discharge Bylaw”. 
 
2. The Land Use Contract is hereby cancelled on the portion of land identified on 

Map “A” and of no further force and effect and the City of Kelowna is hereby 
authorized and empowered to apply for the discharge of the Land Use Contract 
from the Lands. 

 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 16th day of March, 2015. 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 31st day of March, 2015. 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council on the 31st day of March, 2015. 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act this 16th day of April, 2015. 
 
______________Blaine Garrison__________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
Amended at third reading by the Municipal Council this 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

72



 

73



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11104 
Z15-0012 – Hyatt Auto Sales Ltd  

883 McCurdy Place 

 

 
A bylaw to amend the "City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000". 
 
The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 

1. THAT City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be amended by changing the zoning 
classification of Strata Lot 25, District Lot 124, ODYD, Strata Plan KAS3323 together 
with an interest in the common property in proportion to the unit entitlement of the 
strata lot as shown on form V, located on McCurdy Place, Kelowna, B.C., from the I1 – 
Business Industrial zone to the I2 – General Industrial zone. 

 
2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and 

from the date of adoption. 
 
 
Read a first time by the Municipal Council this 15th day of June, 2015. 
 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing on the 30th day of June, 2015. 
 
 
Read a second and third time by the Municipal Council this 30th day of June, 2015. 
 
 
Approved under the Transportation Act 6th day of July, 2015. 
 
 
______________________Audri Henry_________________________________________________ 
(Approving Officer-Ministry of Transportation) 
 
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

 

74



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
August 10, 2015 
 

File: 
 

0165-30 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Deputy City Manager 

Subject: 
 

Quarterly report update 

 Report Prepared by: Tom Wilson 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Quarterly Report from the Deputy City Manager, 
dated August 10, 2015. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide Council with an update of the City’s activities for the second quarter of 2015. 
 
Background: 
 
The attached PowerPoint presentation provides a brief summary of some key activities 
undertaken in the last quarter by the corporation.   
 
The content of the presentation continues to evolve and staff welcomes Council’s suggestions 
in ensuring the report is both informative and timely for our community. All contributors and 
contributing departments are not expected to attend the Council presentation, however if 
Council has specific questions that require a staff member attend the meeting, it is requested 
that the City Clerk be advised in advance of the meeting. 
 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Content provided by Divisional Directors 
Deputy City Manager 
Communications Supervisor 
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 

75



Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
Submitted by:  
 
 
(insert first initial and last name, position title) 
(It is expected that the person submitting and signing the report is the person who will 
present to Council) 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 (the department director initials here) 
 
 
cc: (please ensure relevant cc’s are listed, including departments who provided input, as 
follow-up correspondence will be circulated to these) 
 
 

.  

  

76



QUARTERLY REPORT 
April to June 2015 

Presented Aug. 10, 2015 77



A N  A C T I V E ,  I N C L U S I V E  C I T Y  

44 outdoor event permits 
1,700 at Family Fun Day 
Pianos in the Park 
Kasugai visitors 

78



A N  A C T I V E ,  I N C L U S I V E  C I T Y  

2,375 Bike to Work 
3,564 students 
59,000 km traveled 
 

79



S E C O N D  Q U A RT E R  -  S P R I N G T I M E  

80



A S T R O N G  E C O N O M Y  

Library Parkade 
$229 M in Building Permits 
Industrial/residential housing  
 

81



A S T R O N G  E C O N O M Y  

Expansion plans 
778,000 passengers in 2015 
Daily non-stops to Toronto 
 

 

#YLW 
@ylwkelowna 
 

82



A S T R O N G  E C O N O M Y  

artsVest 2015 
$306,113 in 

economic benefits 
Nearly $700,000 

in two years 
 

83



A C L E A N  H E A LT H Y  E N V I R O N M E N T  

CN Corridor acquisition 
Ethel Street corridor 
Community gardens 
Stuart Park complete 

84



A W E L L  R U N  C I T Y  

  20,665 attended KCT shows  
Civic Block workshops 
Final Budget submissions 
2016 Capital Plan begins 

85



A S A F E  C I T Y  

Contract awarded for Police Services 
Knox Mountain fire 
Pedestrian safety at Pandosy/Lawrence 
School bike safety events 
 

86



W E L L  M A N A G E D  I N F R A S T R U C T U R E  

Queensway transit exchange 
South Pandosy transit exchange 
Adams U.V. treatment plant 
Pickleball court expansion 
KLO resurfacing 87



W E ’ R E  O P E N  

24/7 @ kelowna.ca 
City Hall | Mon. to Fri., 8am-4pm  

250-469-8500 88



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
July 13, 2015 
 

File: 
 

0610-50 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Jeff Carlisle, Fire Chief 

Subject: 
 

Text Amendments  for Bylaws Number 10760 and 10475 

 Report Prepared by: Lou Wilde, Deputy Fire Chief 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Fire Chief dated July 13, 2015 
pertaining to text amendments in the Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760 and Bylaw Notice 
Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475 for consistency; 
 
AND THAT Council gives reading consideration to Bylaw No. 11116 being Amendment No. 1 to 
Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council gives reading consideration to Bylaw No. 11117 being Amendment 
No. 11 to Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475. 
 
Purpose:  
 
The purpose of this report is to complete text amendments in the Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 
No. 10760 and Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475 for clarity and consistency. 
 
Background: 
 
The City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw contains the provisions for open air burning in 
Part Four: Permits.  To create consistency with the Regional District of the Central Okanagan 
Burning Bylaw, a text amendment is required.   Open burning permits require compliance 
with both the air quality venting index and the particulate matter concentration 
measurements. 
 
Therefore an amendment to Part Four: Open Air Burning 4.5.3.g is required to change the 
word “or” to “and” so that both indices are applied.  The regulation should read: 
 

“open burning is prohibited when the venting index is less than 65 and the particulate 
matter PM 2.5 concentration (24 hour rolling average) is 15μg/m3 or greater.  Permit 
holders are required to ensure these conditions on the day they want to burn;” 

89



Indices numbers are available by calling a prerecorded phone number that is identified on 
burning permits and available on the City website.  The prerecorded message states whether 
or not burning is permitted for the day. 
 
In addition, the Fire and Life Safety Bylaw details the standards for new fire hydrant 
installation in Part Five: Fire Protection Equipment.  Part 5.8 for Fire Hydrants on Private 
Property stipulates that the owner/occupant must notify the fire department when hydrants 
are installed and must submit a written report on water flow performance to the fire 
department. This provision must also apply to the relocation of fire hydrants.   
 
Therefore an amendment to Part Five: Fire Protection Equipment is required to include the 

words “or relocated” in the following two sections as follows: 

a) Section 5.8.5.c: 

“Provide the Fire Chief or designate with a written report of the flow test performed 

on new or relocated fire hydrants in accordance to NFPA 291 on a form approved by 

the AHJ. A combination of actual flow and modeling is acceptable.” 

b) Section 5.9.3: 

“Every owner of premises under construction must ensure that the Fire Department is 

notified of all newly installed or relocated fire hydrants prior to their installation so as 

to permit testing and approval of all such hydrants.” 

The final requested text amendment applies to Schedule “A” of the Bylaw Enforcement Bylaw 
No. 10475 details penalties for bylaw offences including those in the Fire and Life Safety 
Bylaw.   
 
Under Schedule “A”, Part 5: Fire Protection Equipment, item 5.5 reads “No smoke alarm on 
premise” which should read “No working smoke alarm on premise”. This provides clarity that 
smoke alarms must be functioning/serviceable and not just on the premise. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Bylaw Department 
Office of the City Clerk 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
L. Wilde, Deputy Fire Chief 

90



 
Approved for inclusion:                  
 
cc:  
Bylaw Department 
Office of the City Clerk 

  

91



 

 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11116 
 

Amendment No. 1 to Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760 
 

 

The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts that the City of Kelowna 

Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No.10760 be amended as follows: 

 
1. THAT PART FOUR:  PERMITS, Section 4.5 Open Air Burning, 4.5.3 (g) be amended by deleting the 

word “or” after the words “open burning is prohibited when the venting index is less than” and 
replacing it with “and”; 
 

2. AND THAT PART FIVE:  FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT, 5.8 Fire Hydrants on Private Property, 5.8.5 
c) be amended by adding the words “or relocated” after the words “Provide the Fire Chief or 
designate with a written report of the flow test performed on new”; 
 

3. AND THAT PART FIVE:  FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT, 5.9 Premises Under Construction, 5.9.3 be 
amended by adding the words “or relocated” after the words “Every owner of premises under 
construction must ensure that the Fire Department is notified of all newly installed”; 

 
4. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Bylaw No. 11116, being Amendment No. 1 to Fire and Life 

Safety Bylaw No. 10760." 

 
5. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the date of 

adoption. 

 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 

 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 

 

 

 

 
 

Mayor 

 

 

 

 
 

City Clerk 
 

 

92



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11117 
 

Amendment No. 11 to Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 
10475 

 

 

The Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts that the City of Kelowna 

Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475 be amended as follows: 

 
1. THAT Schedule A, Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760, PART FIVE:  FIRE PROTECTION EQUIPMENT, 

5.5 be amended by deleting “No smoke alarm on premise” and replacing it with “No working smoke 
alarm on premise”. 

 
2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Bylaw No.11117 , being Amendment No. 1 to Bylaw 

Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475." 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the date of 

adoption. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this 

 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this 

 

 

 

 
 

Mayor 
 

 

 

 
 

City Clerk 
 

 

93



Report to Council 
 

 
Date: 8/10/2015 

RIM No. 1220-02 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (AC) 

Application: RTE14-0003 Owner: 
Dickson Avenue Holdings 
Ltd.  

Address: 1525 Dickson Ave Applicant: 
Dickson Avenue Holdings 
Ltd. 

Subject: Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and Housing Agreement 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City of Kelowna entering into a Revitalization Tax Exemption 
Agreement with Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd. for Lot A, District Lot 141, ODYD, Plan 
EPP48886, located at 1525 Dickson Ave, Kelowna, BC, in the form attached to the Report 
from the Community Planning Department dated July 27, 2015;   
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Revitalization Tax 
Exemption Agreement; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11127 authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd. which requires the owners to designate 90 purpose built 
rental units for a period of ten years on Lot A, District Lot 141, ODYD, Plan EPP48886, located 
at 1525 Dickson Ave, Kelowna, BC, be forwarded for reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To enter into a Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and a Housing Agreement with 
Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd. 
 
Background: 
 
The subject property is designated as MRM – Multiple Unit Residential (Medium - Density) in 
the OCP and as such the proposed 4 storey 90 unit residential apartment building is in 
conformance with the OCP.  
 
A Development Permit (DP14-0197) for the project was approved by Council on April 28th 
2015. The subject property originally contained three duplexes which have since been 
demolished. Staff considers the redevelopment of this property within the Urban Centre to a 

94



higher and better use as a positive step towards achieving the livability goals established in 
the 2030 OCP. Aided by the Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement, the proposed 
redevelopment of an underutilized property will further support revitalization within this 
Urban Centre. 
 
For Purpose-Built Rental Housing Projects throughout the City, 100% of the Revitalization 
Amount on the parcel, for projects that are subject to a Housing Agreement (for up to 10 
years) and are in compliance with the OCP Future Land Use designation as at May 30, 2011. A 
tax incentive for rental housing will only be considered when the vacancy rate is at or below 
3%. See the latest data available for private apartment vacancy rates as calculated by the 
Canadian Housing and Mortgage Corporation (CMHC) below: 
 

Private Apartment Vacancy Rates (%)  

 
Apr-13 Oct-13 Apr-14 Oct-14 

Bachelor 0.9 2.0 0.9 0.0 

1 Bedroom 3.5 1.3 1.5 0.8 

2 Bedroom 6.1 2.1 1.7 1.3 

3 Bedroom + 6.7 1.7 0.0 0.0 

Total 4.9 1.8 1.5 1.0 

Source: CMHC 

 
See the table below to see the estimated DCC revenue and the rental subsidy expenditures. If 
the 10 year property exemption is approved by Council, then the City will take in 
approximately $337,000 in DCC revenue but spend $533,684 in rental subsidies and 
replenishing the DCCs through general revenue. This will result in a net cost to the City of 
$196,684 and a loss of $263,000 to the DCC reserve fund. 
 

Estimated DCC Revenue and Rental Subsidy Expenditures 

Building 

Number 
of 

Eligible 
Dwellings 

Estimated 
DCC 

Revenue 

Lost DCC 
Revenue 

Recommended 
Grant 

Estimated 10 Year 
Property Tax 
Exemption 

Micro Suites 44 n/a - $263,000 


 n/a 

- $340,000 

Other Units 46 $337,000 
 

- $193,684 

Net Total 
(over 10 
years) 

90 $337,000 - $193,684 - $340,000 =  - $196,684 


Approximate estimate of DCCs the City will not be receiving because units are below 29 m2. 


Currently, micro-suites that do not pay DCCs are not replenished via general taxation meaning in the long term DCCs either 

increase for all other projects or planned capital expenditures are reduced.
 

95



 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Revenue Manager, Financial Services 
 
Existing Policy: 
Revitalization Tax Exemption Program Bylaw No. 9561 
 
 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
As the project is located within Revitalization Tax Exemption Area for purpose built rental 
housing it qualifies for a 100% tax exemption. The Tax exemption will be for the 2017-2026 
taxation years. 
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 

Alternate Recommendation 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
 
 

 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
Adam Cseke, Planner 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
Draft Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement 
Draft Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement 
 
 
cc: Lynn Walter, Revenue Manager 
 

  

96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11127 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw 
Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. BC0778937 

1525 Dickson Avenue 
 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 905 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by bylaw, 
enter into a housing agreement. 
 

Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as 
follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with Dickson Avenue Holdings Ltd., Inc. No. BC0778937 for the lands known as 
Lot A, District Lot 141, ODYD, Plan EPP48886 located on 1525 Dickson Avenue, Kelowna, 
B.C., a true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as Appendix “A”. 

 

2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as well 
as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the attached 
agreement. 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the 

date of adoption. 

 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this   
 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  
 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk

121



122



123



124



125



126



127



 

128



Report to Council 
 

 
Date: 8/10/2015 

RIM No. 1220-02 

To: City Manager 

From: Community Planning Department (AC) 

Application: RTE15-0001 Owner: 
Simple Pursuits Inc. No. BC 
449611  

Address: 2127 Ethel Street Applicant: 
Simple Pursuits Inc. No. BC 
449611 

Subject: Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and Housing Agreement 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City of Kelowna entering into a Revitalization Tax Exemption 
Agreement with Simple Pursuits Inc. No. BC 449611 for Lot 1, Section 19, Township 26, ODYD, 
Plan 29557, located at 2127 Ethel Street, Kelowna, BC, in the form attached to the Report 
from the Community Planning Department dated July 27, 2015; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Revitalization Tax 
Exemption Agreement; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11128, authorizing a Housing Agreement between the City of Kelowna 
and Simple Pursuits Inc. No. BC 449611, which requires the owners to designate 24 purpose 
built rental units for a period of ten years on Lot 1, Section 19, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 
29557, located at 2127 Ethel Street, Kelowna, BC, be forwarded for reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To enter into a Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement and a Housing Agreement with 
Simple Pursuits on the subject property. 
 
Background: 
 
The subject property is currently designated as MRL - Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density), 
in the Official Community Plan (OCP). A Development Permit (DP15-0019) for the project was 
approved by Council on May 12th 2015. The subject property originally contained a single 
family dwelling. Staff considers the redevelopment of this property within the Urban Centre 
to a higher and better use as a positive step towards achieving the livability goals established 
in the 2030 OCP. Aided by the Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement, the proposed 

129



RTE15-0001 

redevelopment of an underutilized property will further support revitalization within this 
Urban Centre. 
 
For Purpose-Built Rental Housing Projects throughout the City, 100% of the Revitalization 
Amount on the parcel, for projects that are subject to a Housing Agreement (for up to 10 
years) and are in compliance with the OCP Future Land Use designation as of May 30, 2011. A 
tax incentive for rental housing will only be considered when the vacancy rate is at or below 
3%. See the latest data available for private apartment vacancy rates as calculated by the 
Canadian Housing and Mortgage Corporation (CMHC) below: 
 

Private Apartment Vacancy Rates (%)  

 
Apr-13 Oct-13 Apr-14 Oct-14 

Bachelor 0.9 2.0 0.9 0.0 

1 Bedroom 3.5 1.3 1.5 0.8 

2 Bedroom 6.1 2.1 1.7 1.3 

3 Bedroom + 6.7 1.7 0.0 0.0 

Total 4.9 1.8 1.5 1.0 

Source: CMHC 

 
See the table below to see the estimated DCC revenue and the rental subsidy expenditures. If 
the 10 year property exemption is approved by Council, then the City will approximately 
forego future taxes in the amount of $73,000 over a 10 year period. Regardless, if the project 
is built then the DCC reserve funds will approximately lose $110,000 in DCC revenue. This 
project is not eligible for a rental housing grant as that program only reimburses rental 
housing projects that pay DCCs. 
 

Estimated DCC Revenue and Rental Subsidy Expenditures 

Building 

Number 
of 

Eligible 
Dwellings 

Estimated 
DCC 

Revenue 

Lost DCC 
Revenue 

Recommended 
Grant 

Estimated 10 Year 
Property Tax 
Exemption 

Micro Suites 24 $0 - $110,000 


 $0 
- $73,000 

Other Units 0 n/a n/a n/a 

Net Total 
(over 10 
years) 

24 $0 - $73,000 =  - $73,000 


Approximate estimate of DCCs the City will not be receiving because units are below 29 m2. 


Currently, micro-suites that do not pay DCCs are not replenished via general taxation meaning in the long term DCCs either 

increase for all other projects or planned capital expenditures are reduced.
 

 
 

130



RTE15-0001 

Internal Circulation: 
Revenue Manager, Financial Services 
 
Existing Policy: 
Revitalization Tax Exemption Program Bylaw No. 9561 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
As the project is located within Revitalization Tax Exemption Area for purpose built rental 
housing it qualifies for a 100% tax exemption. The Tax exemption will be for the 2017-2026 
taxation years. 
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 

Alternate Recommendation 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
 
 

 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
Adam Cseke, Planner 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
Draft Revitalization Tax Exemption Agreement 
Draft Purpose-Built Rental Housing Agreement 
 
 
cc: Lynn Walter, Revenue Manager 
 

  

131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



 

 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11128 
 

Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw – Simple Pursuits Inc., 
Inc. No. BC0449611 – 2127 Ethel Street 

 

Whereas pursuant to Section 905 of the Local Government Act, a local government may, by bylaw, 

enter into a housing agreement. 
 
Therefore, the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts as 

follows:    
 
1. The Municipal Council hereby authorizes the City of Kelowna to enter into a Housing 

Agreement with Simple Pursuits Inc., Inc. No. BC0449611 for the lands known as Lot 1, 
Section 19, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 29557 located on 2127 Ethel Street, Kelowna, B.C., a 
true copy of which is attached to and forms part of this bylaw as Appendix “A”. 

 
2. The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the attached agreement as well 

as any conveyances, deeds, receipts or other documents in connection with the attached 
agreement. 

 
3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the 

date of adoption. 

 

Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this   
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this  

 

 
 

                                                                              Mayor 

 

 
 

                                                                                  City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

151



 

 

Schedule “A” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

152



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

153



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

154



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

155



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

156



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

157



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

158



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
July 31, 2015 
 

File: 
 

0705-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

James Moore, Long Rang Policy Planning Manager 

Subject: 
 

Fringe Area Planning Agreement 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the Part 26 Cost Sharing Agreement entitled “Planning Services 

Agreement, January 1, 2016 – December 31, 2020” between the Regional District of Central 

Okanagan and the City of Kelowna in the form attached to the Report of the Policy & Planning 

Department dated July 31, 2015; 

AND THAT Council authorizes the Mayor and City Clerk to execute the Agreement. 

 
Purpose:  
 
To obtain Council’s endorsement of the proposed agreement with the Regional District of 
Central Okanagan (RDCO) addressing fringe area planning. 
 
Background: 
 
At its Regular Meeting of June 22, 2015, Council resolved as follows: 
 

THAT Council endorses the proposed Fringe Area Planning boundaries as outlined in 
the report from the Long Range Policy Planning Manager, dated June 16, 2015 to be 
used as a basis for the drafting of a new Fringe Area Planning agreement with the 
Regional District of Central Okanagan;  
 
AND THAT Council directs staff to bring back the new Fringe Area Planning agreement 
for Council consideration. 

 
Following this meeting, City staff provided the endorsed Fringe Area Planning boundaries to 
Regional District of Central Okanagan (RDCO) staff, allowing them to draft the legal 
agreements formally. The result is entitled the Planning Services Agreement, and is included 
as Attachment 1.  
 

159



The Agreement outlines the conditions under which City of Kelowna representatives on the 
Regional Board will be permitted to vote on land use planning matters outside of City of 
Kelowna municipal boundaries. The agreement uses the boundaries agreed to by Council at its 
June 22, 2015 meeting as the basis for the agreement.  
 
In short, the agreement states that all Board members are entitled to vote on all Regional 
Planning matters, which includes matters pertaining to the Regional Growth Strategy, Crown 
Land Referrals, Resource Extraction Referrals, and Agricultural Land Commission Reserve 
referrals.  In addition, City of Kelowna representatives on the Board will be able to vote on all 
Community Planning (land use planning) matters within the agreed-upon boundaries. The 
principal aim here is to ensure that the City is able to influence decisions on key land use 
planning matters outside of its boundaries, where such decisions may impact the City. The 
Agreement as drafted will take effect on January 1, 2016, and will conclude five years later 
on December 31, 2020. 
 
The Agreement represents the culmination of several years of work between the RDCO and 
member municipalities to address Fringe Area Planning. Should Council execute the 
Agreement, it will provide a strong foundation for cooperation on planning matters between 
the RDCO and the City of Kelowna for years to come. 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Local Government Act Part 24, Division 4.1 Establishing Bylaws, Section 802.1 - changes to the 
boundary of a service area. 
 
Local Government Act Part 24, Division 4.2 Cost Recovery for Services, Section 804.1(2) - 
establishing an agreement covering the cost of services. 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
The proposed Planning Services Agreement has an estimated annual cost of $152,481. This is 
funded through annual requisitions by the City on behalf of the RDCO. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 

Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
xisting Policy 
 

 
Submitted by:  
 
 
__________________________ 
J. Moore, Long Range Policy Planning Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 D. Gilchrist, Div. Dir., Community Planning & Real Estate 

160



 
 
 
 
Attachments:  
 
Attachment 1 – Planning Services Agreement 
 
cc:  
 
D. Noble-Brandt, Policy & Planning Department Manager 
D. Gilchrist, Divisional Director of Community Planning & Real Estate 
G. Davidson, Director of Financial Services 
A. Newcombe, Divisional Director of Infrastructure 
A. Reeder, Utility Planning Manager 

161



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 1 of 8    

PLANNING SERVICES AGREEMENT 
January 1, 2016 – December 31, 2020 

   
BETWEEN: 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF CENTRAL OKANAGAN 
1450 KLO Road 

Kelowna, BC  V1W 3Z4 
 

(the “Regional District”) 
  
AND   

CITY OF KELOWNA 
1435 Water Street 

Kelowna, BC  V1Y 1J4 
 

(the “Municipality” or “Kelowna”) 
 
WHEREAS 
 
A. The Regional District is currently comprised of the following four member 

municipalities and two electoral areas: 

- City of Kelowna; 

- District of Peachland; 

- District of Lake Country; 

- City of West Kelowna; 

- Central Okanagan West Electoral Area; and 

- Central Okanagan East Electoral Area.  

Westbank First Nation Council has a representative on the Regional 
District Board in a non-voting capacity. 

  
B. The Regional District has provided planning services to its electoral areas 

since 1969, including under current Part 26 of the Local Government Act 
1996 R.S.B.C. c.323 (the “Act” or “LGA”);  

 
C. For the calendar year 2015, the Regional District and all its member 

municipalities, including the Municipality, have participated fully 
(geographic area, voting and cost-sharing) in Regional District Electoral 
Area Planning Services. Going forward, the Municipality wishes to 
participate and contribute in part for certain portions of the Electoral Areas, 
as set out in accordance with this agreement;  

  

162



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 2 of 8    

D. The Regional District and its member municipalities, including the 
Municipality, have sought to divide the Electoral Areas into the Fringe 
Planning Areas (the “FPA”); 

 
E. The Regional District and Municipality hereby agree as to the following 

framework for voting, cost allocations and other terms and conditions 
regarding Electoral Area Planning Services and the FPA in accordance 
with the Act (the “Agreement”). 

  
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual promises set out in this 
Agreement, the Regional District and the Municipality agree as follows, including 
pursuant to section 804.1 of the LGA:  

 
PART A – BACKGROUND & TERM 

 
1. APPLICATION AND INTERPRETATION 
 
1.1. The following Schedule is attached to and forms part of this Agreement: 

(a) Schedule “A” – Fringe Planning Areas  
 
1.2. In this Agreement: 

 

(a) “FPA” or “Fringe Planning Area” means the lands within the 
geographic area of the RDCO Electoral Areas shown highlighted and 
in bold outline on Schedule “A”; 

 

(b) “Part 26” means Part 26 Planning and Land Use Management of the 
Local Government Act; 

 

(c) “Planning Services” means Regional Planning Services and 
Community Planning Services, whereby for the purposes of this 
Agreement: 

 

(i) “Community Planning Services” (“Com”) means all Part 26 
matters including, but not limited to, Official Community Plans, 
Rural Land Use Bylaws, Zoning Bylaws, Development Variance 
Permits, Subdivisions, Temporary Use Permits, and Land Use 
Contracts. 

 

(ii) “Regional Planning Services” (“Reg”) means matters 
pertaining to the Regional Growth Strategy, Crown Land 
Referrals, Resource Extraction Referrals, and Agricultural Land 
Reserve Referrals.  

 
1.3. The following interpretation rules apply to this Agreement:  

 

(a) Unless otherwise provided, the terms in this Agreement are 
interpreted in accordance with the Regional District’s bylaws. 

163



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 3 of 8    

(b) The headings and captions are for convenience only and do not form 
a part of this Agreement and will not be used to interpret, define or 
limit the scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any of its 
provisions. 

 

(c) The word "including" when following any general term or statement is 
not to be construed as limiting the general term or statement to the 
specific items or matters set forth or to similar terms or matters but 
rather as permitting it to refer to other items or matters that could 
reasonably fall within its scope. 

 

(d) A reference to currency means Canadian currency. 
 

(e) A reference to a statute includes every regulation made pursuant 
thereto, all amendments to the statute or to any such regulation in 
force from time to time, and any statute or regulation that 
supplements or supersedes such statute or any such regulation. 

 

(f) A reference to time or date is to the local time or date in Kelowna, 
British Columbia. 

 

(g) Wherever the singular, masculine and neuter are used throughout 
this Agreement, the same is to be construed as meaning the plural or 
the feminine or the body corporate or politic as the context so 
requires. 

 

(h) A reference to approval, authorization, consent, designation, waiver 
or notice means written approval, authorization, consent, designation, 
waiver or notice evidenced with the signature of a authorized 
representative of the local government. 

 

(i) A reference to a section means a Section of this Agreement, unless a 
specific reference is provided to a statute. 

 
1.4. This Agreement is construed in accordance with and governed by the laws 

applicable in the Province of British Columbia. 
 

2. TERM AND TERMINATION 
 

2.1. For the calendar year 2015, the Regional District and all its member 
municipalities, including the Municipality have participated fully (geographic 
area, voting and cost-sharing) in Regional District Electoral Area Planning 
Services.  
 

2.2. The parties acknowledge that this Agreement commences on January 1, 
2016, and continues for 5 years until December 31, 2020, unless, in 
accordance with the Act, the Municipality withdraws from the FPA 
Agreement by written notice that it intends to participate fully in Electoral 
Area Planning Services and will cost-share its full allocation. 
 

164



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 4 of 8    

2.3. If not renewed, opt-out notice given or other arrangements made in 
accordance with the Act, then the Municipality will participate fully in 
Electoral Area Planning Services in 2021.  

 
PART B – FRINGE PLANNING AREAS 

 
3. GEOGRAPHIC EXTENT OF FPAS 
 
3.1. Since the 2007 incorporation of the District of West Kelowna (now City), the 

Regional District has been comprised of the following four member 
municipalities and two electoral areas: 
 

(a) City of Kelowna; 

(b) District of Peachland; 
(c) District of Lake Country; 
(d) District of West Kelowna (now City of West Kelowna); 
(e) Central Okanagan West Electoral Area; and 

(f) Central Okanagan East Electoral Area.  
 

3.2. For the purposes of the provision, cost-sharing and voting arrangements on 
Planning Services, the Municipality will only participate with respect to lands 
within the FPAs of the Regional District’s Electoral Areas shown on 
Schedule ”A”, and labeled as:    

 

(a) Within the Regional District’s Central Okanagan West Electoral Area: 
 

(i) Kelowna West; and 
 

(b) Within the Regional District’s Central Okanagan East Electoral Area: 
 

(i) Kelowna; 
(ii) Kelowna & Lake Country;  
(iii) Proposed Kelowna East Fringe ”A”; and 
(iv) Proposed Kelowna East Fringe ”B”. 

 
(collectively “Kelowna’s FPAs”) 

 

4. MUNICIPALITY’S VOTING ENTITLEMENT IN FPAS AND EAS 
 

4.1. For its voting entitlement, the Municipality is entitled to: 
 

(a) No votes on Community Planning Services for lands in portions of the 
Electoral Areas not located within Kelowna’s FPAs; 

 

(b) One vote for each of its Directors on the respective Regional 
Planning Services and Community Planning Services in each of 
Kelowna’s FPAs; and 

165



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 5 of 8    

(c) Despite the above, with respect to Official Community Plans, Zoning 
Bylaws and Rural Land Use Bylaws within the Electoral Area which 
regulate lands both within and outside a Kelowna FPA, then: 

 

(i) One vote for each of its Directors on: 
 

(A) General amendments (including repeal and new OCP’s, 
Zoning Bylaws, and Rural Land Use Bylaws); and 
 

(B) Site-specific amendments for lands located within a 
Kelowna FPA; 

 

(ii) No votes for site-specific amendments for lands located outside 
a Kelowna FPA. 

 
4.2. At the time of execution of this Agreement, it is acknowledged that Kelowna 

has six (6) Directors on the Regional District Board and therefore has six (6) 
votes. 
 

4.3. For clarity, should the number of Directors change during the term of this 
agreement then the number of votes would change correspondingly along 
with the cost sharing amounts based on the formula in Section 5 below. 

 

5. MUNICIPAL COST-SHARING AMOUNT FOR FPAS 
 

5.1. The Municipality’s cost-sharing is determined by the following formula, as 
calculated by Regional District staff: 

 
Total Cost of Electoral Area Planning apportioned to each Electoral 
Area  
multiplied by  
the Ratio of Land Parcels within the FPA Boundary  
multiplied by  
the Ratio of Votes at the Board Table  
equals  
the Municipal Cost Sharing Amount.   

 
5.2. By way of estimation only for 2016, it is anticipated Kelowna’s annual share 

of costs will be approximately $151,326. 

 
PART C – GENERAL 

 
6. NOTICE: Any notice permitted or required by this Agreement to be given to 

either party must be given to that party at the address set out above, to the 
attention of the Corporate Officer, or to any other address of which the party 
has given the other party notice in writing expressly for the purposes of this 
Agreement.  

166



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 6 of 8    

7. NO DEROGATION OF POWERS: Except as expressly set out in this 
Agreement, nothing in this Agreement prejudices or affects the rights and 
powers of the Regional District or the Municipality in the exercise of its 
powers, duties or functions under the Community Charter or the LGA or any 
of its bylaws. 

 

8. ASSIGNMENT: This Agreement may not be assigned.  
 

9. AMENDMENT: No amendment to this Agreement is effective unless it is 
made in writing and is duly executed by all parties. 

 

10. WAIVER:  
 

(a) No provision of this agreement is to be considered to have been 
waived by a party unless the waiver is expressed in writing by the 
party.   

 

(b) The waiver by a party of any failure on the part of the other party to 
perform in accordance with any of the terms or conditions of this 
Agreement is not to be construed as a waiver of any future or 
continuing failure, whether similar or dissimilar. 

 

11. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  
 

(a) This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of 
the parties with respect to the matters contemplated by this 
Agreement and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous 
agreements between them with respect to such matters.  

 

(b) No representations, warranties or conditions, express or implied, oral 
or otherwise, have been made other than those expressed in this 
Agreement. 

 

12. SURVIVAL: All representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement 
and all provisions of this Agreement, the full performance of which is not 
required prior to a termination of this Agreement, survive any such 
termination and will be fully enforceable thereafter. 

 

13. SEVERABILITY: Each article of this Agreement is severable.  If any 
provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal or invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the provision may be severed and the illegality or 
invalidity must not affect the validity of the remainder of this Agreement. 

 

14. COUNTERPART: This Agreement may be executed in counterpart with the 
same effect as if both parties had signed the same document.  Each 
counterpart is deemed to be an original.  All counterparts are construed 
together and constitute one and the same Agreement.  

 

167



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 7 of 8    

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have set their hands and seals, with the last 
Date of Execution being the day at which this Agreement is entered into and 
operative: 
 
 
 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF CENTRAL OKANANGAN 
by its authorized signatories    ) 

)  
        )  
__________________________________  )  
Board Chair Gail Given     ) ________________ 
        ) Date of Execution 
        )  
__________________________________  )  
Brian Reardon, CAO     )  
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
by its authorized signatories    )  
        )  
        )  
__________________________________  )  
Colin Basran, Mayor     ) ________________ 
        ) Date of Execution 

       )  
__________________________________  )  
Stephen Fleming, City Clerk    )  

168



RDCO-Kelowna FPA  Final Page 8 of 8    

SCHEDULE “A” 
FRINGE PLANNING AREAS 

 

169



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
July 20, 2015 
 

File: 
 

1220-02 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

James Moore, Long Range Policy Planning Manager 

Subject: 
 

Revitalization Tax Exemption – Area 3 Update 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives for information the report from the Policy and Planning Department, 
dated July 20, 2015 regarding the status of Tax Incentive Area 3 within the revitalization tax 
exemption program; 
 
AND THAT Council directs staff not to extend the exemptions in Tax Incentive Area 3 beyond 
the existing 200,000 square foot threshold.  
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide Council with a detailed update on the status of Tax Incentive Area 3 and to obtain 
final approval not to extend the exemptions in the area. 
 
Background: 
 
At its Regular Meeting of June 1, 2015, Council received for information a report from the 
Policy & Planning Department providing an update on the status of the Revitalization Tax 
Exemption program. Staff’s recommendation was to carry the program forward as it is 
currently envisioned in Revitalization Tax Exemption Bylaw No. 9561. This would see 
continuing on with incentives in Tax Incentive Areas 1, 2, 4 and for purpose-built rental 
housing (see Attachment 1). Tax Incentive Area 3 would be fully subscribed at 200,000 ft2, 
after which point no further incentives would be provided in that area. 
 
In its deliberation on the matter, Council’s direction was to maintain the existing incentives 
for purpose-built rental housing, and for Tax Incentive Areas 1, 2 & 4. However, Council 
requested additional information respecting Tax Incentive Area 3 prior to making a final 
decision. 
 
 
 
 

170



Tax Incentive Area 3 
 
Within the City Centre Tax Incentive Areas, Area 3 receives the most limited of the incentives 
provided, reflecting Council’s decision regarding the priority of those City Centre areas that 
needed assistance: 
 

Tax Incentive Area 3: Up to 50% tax exemption for 10 years on the eligible amount for 
larger buildings only (40,000 ft2 or greater), with a cap of 200,000 ft2 in to total for 
the area. 
 

Since being added in 2012, Area 3 has witnessed considerable development (see Table 1). This 
level of development may not be reflected in the number of tax exemptions granted due to 
the limitations of the tax incentives in the area, which allow grants only on large projects. 
Nevertheless, they suggest that the market for development in Area 3 is healthy and does not 
warrant further taxation assisted incentive. 
 

Address Project Name Gross Floor Area 
(ft2) 

Status RTE 
Agreement 

(Y/N) 

653 Harvey Ave Central Green – 
commercial 

80,000 Under 
application 

Express intent 

1770-1850 Richter St, 
1775 Chapman Pl 

Central Green – 
residential 

460,400 (not 
including towers) 

Under 
application 

Express intent 
(rental portion) 

1290 St. Paul St Sole  75,714 Complete Express intent 

460 Doyle Ave Okanagan Centre for 
Innovation 

105,935 Under 
Construction 

Express intent 

1745 Chapman Pl Friendship Housing 55,334 Under 
Construction 

Express intent 

598 Sutherland Ave Apartment Building 15,372 Complete Not eligible 

1310 Water St The Delta Grand 
restaurant 

323 Complete Not eligible 

1370 Water St Kelowna Yacht Club 24,100 Complete Not eligible 

615 623 625 633 635 645 
Fuller Ave & 1373 1375 
Bertram St 

Kensington 
Apartments 

21,600 Complete Not eligible 

550 Rowcliffe Ave Karis Housing Society 24,660 Under 
Construction 

Not eligible 

1226 St Paul St CTQ  6,386 Complete Not eligible 

 
Not only has the volume of development been positive for Area 3, but the variety of 
development types also indicates a healthy development sector. With the coming of Central 
Green, the Okanagan Centre for Innovation, Sole, and others, Area 3 will provide a healthy 
balance of retail, office, and residential uses.  
 
Conversely, Tax Incentive Areas 1 & 2 have been somewhat less successful, particularly with 
residential development. Both areas have witnessed recent office development, and there are 
major projects on the horizon. The new IHA office building and the Westcorp Hotel are set to 
make a significant difference. While these are very positive indications, neither area has 
received any new residential development. As prime development sites are gradually taken 
up, achieving the residential density needed to ensure that Downtown offers a place to “live, 
work, and play” may prove challenging. 

171



The City has also been working over recent years to rejuvenate the City Centre with major 
civic investments, including Stuart Park (Phases 1 and 2), the new transit exchange, new 
parking structures, and the Bernard Avenue revitalization project. These investments have 
taken the city’s downtown a big step towards achieving its potential.  
 
Allowing Area 3 to meet its anticipated cap of 200,000ft2 without additional extensions will 
serve to focus development into those areas where incentives will be maintained (Areas 1, 2 
and 4). This will improve the chances of achieving the vision for the downtown articulated in 
the Official Community Plan and the Downtown Plan, while also making more efficient use of 
the civic investments made in the area. To be clear, staff believe it is important to 
differentiate those incentive areas where development investment is needed (Areas 1, 2 & 4) 
and not to provide tax payer assistance to areas where it is not needed (Area 3).  
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
Revitalization Tax Exemptions can be an effective tool to incent new development and 
redevelopment in areas of high priority but it does come at a cost. Foregoing tax revenue on 
new development will attract investment that would not otherwise have occurred, ultimately 
resulting in higher tax revenues in the long-run and incenting the form of development that 
results in the complete community envisaged in the OCP. 
 
It is, however, important to note that tax incentives play only one role in complex funding 
models for major development. Where the market is healthy and private investment will 
occur regardless of incentives, tax exemptions can result in unnecessary lost revenues for 
municipalities who need the revenue to pay for infrastructure investments, services and 
programs. In the case of Tax Incentive Area 3, the estimated total value, through the 10 year 
program, of lost tax revenue from the 200,000 ft2 of development is $909,000.00. 
 
Summary: 
 
Tax exemptions are a useful tool in the municipality’s toolbox for incenting new development 
in targeted areas. They must be used judiciously in areas where the market cannot provide 
the type of development needed without assistance. This is the case in the majority of the 
City’s Tax Incentive Areas (1,2 &4) and for rental housing. However, staff feel that Tax 
Incentive Area 3 has and will continue to demonstrate a healthy level and diversity of 
development without further incentive. As such, staff are recommending that no further tax 
exemptions be provided in Tax Incentive Area 3 beyond the 200,000ft2 threshold. This will 
help to focus incentives to where they are most needed and to support recent major 
investments in civic infrastructure.  
 
Staff will continue to monitor the form and type development in this area on an ongoing basis 
and return to Council with any recommended changes to the bylaw if warranted.  
 
Should Council support this direction, it is important to note that incentives for purpose-built 
rental housing will remain available throughout the city, when the rental vacancy rate falls 
below 3%. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
City Clerk 

172



Director, Financial Services 
Manager, Urban Planning 
Director, Real Estate Services 
Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate  
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Revitalization Tax Exemption Program Bylaw No. 9561, 2006 
Community Charter, Division 7, Section 226 
 
Existing Policy: 
 
Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 
 

Objective 5.9 - Support the creation of affordable and safe rental, 
non-market and/or special needs housing. 
 
Policy 5.1.3 - Rutland & Downtown Revitalization Tax Exemption. Provide a 
revitalization tax exemption for the municipal portion of the annual taxes on 
improvements for development within the City Centre and Rutland Town Centre as per 
Revitalization Tax Exemption Bylaw No. 9561. 

 
Downtown Plan 
 
 Action Item 16 - Provide financial incentives for affordable housing. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 

Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 

 
Submitted by:  
 
 
___________________________ 
James Moore, MCIP, RPP 
Long Range Policy Planning Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 D. Gilchrist, Div. Dir., Community Planning & Real Estate 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Attachment 1 – Map of the City Centre Tax Incentive Areas 
 
cc:  
D. Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 

  

173



D. Noble-Brandt, Department Manager, Policy & Planning 

174



Okanagan Lake

1
2

3

3

City
Park

Recreation
Avenue

Park

Waterfront
Park

Rotary
Marsh
Park

Cawston
Avenue

Recreation
Corridor

Rowcliffe
Park
(Old
KSS
Site)

A. S.
Matheson

Elementary
School

Mill
Creek
Linear
Park

Mount
Royal
Open
Space

LEON AVE

LAWRENCE AVE

CAWSTON AVE

ST
 PA

UL
 ST

GLENWOOD AVE

GR
AH

AM
 ST

BE
RT

RA
M 

ST

SUTHERLAND AVE

FULLER AVE

CORONATION AVE

WILSON AVE

LAWSON AVE

LAKE AVE

BURNE AVE

ROYAL AVE

DOYLE AVE STOCKWELL AVE

LO
NG

 ST

ROWCLIFFE AVE

ELLIOT AVE

BO
WE

S S
T

MANHATT AN DR

PARK AVE

BAILLIE AVE

MARTIN AVE

DEHART AVE

KNOX CR

SAUCIER AVE

BORDEN AVE

LAURIER AVE

VAUGHAN AVE

GASTON AVE

QUEENSWAY

MA
PL

E S
T

RECREATION AVE

LEVITT LANE

BUCKLAND AVE

MCDOUGALL ST

RI
CH

TE
R 

ST

M I
LL

 ST

MA
RS

HA
LL

 ST

BEACH AVE

RIVERSIDE AVE

GA
GN

ON
 PL

CA
RR

UT
HE

RS
 ST

DO
RY

AN
 ST

CA
NN

ER
Y L

AN
E

C OPELAND PL

BOY CE CR

INDUSTRIAL AVE

SMITH AVE

LE
QU

IM
E S

T

ROSEMEAD AVE

MARTIN AVE

BURNE AVE

FULLER AVE

ROYAL AVE

BEACH AVE

ET
HE

L S
T

EL
LIS

 ST

HARVEY AVE

RI
CH

TE
R 

ST

AB
BO

TT
 S T

WA
TE

R  
S T

BERNARD AVE

PANDOSY ST

CADDER AVE

CLEMENT AVE

WEDDELL PL

SUNSET DR

CROWLEY AVE

GUY ST

PA
ND

OS
Y S

T

ET
HE

L S
T

WA
TE

R 
ST

RI
CH

TE
R 

ST

¯

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.
0 100 200

Meters

Tax Incentive Area
City Centre

Rev. June 12/12

Tax Incentive Area 1
Tax Incentive Area 2
Tax Incentive Area 3
Urban Centre

Park

175



R E V I TA L I Z AT I O N  TA X  
E X E M P T I O N S  

176



P U R P O S E  

Previous Council direction: 
No changes to Rutland Tax Incentive Area  
No changes to City Centre Tax Incentive Areas 1 & 2 
No changes to tax exemption for rental housing 
 
Additional information on City Centre Tax Incentive Area 3 

177



B A C K G R O U N D  

If development market is weak… 
Incentive for new development 
Long-term tax revenue increase 

If the development market is strong… 
Incentive not needed 
Lost revenue ($909,900 for Area 3) 
Capital needed for infrastructure 

178



B A C K G R O U N D  

City Centre Tax 
Incentive Area 3  

Largest area 
Added in 2012 

 

Lowest level of 
incentive 

Up to 50% of revitalization 
amount 
Large buildings only 
Cap of 200,000 ft2 

179



B A C K G R O U N D  

Status of Tax Incentive Area 3 
18,000 ft2 unclaimed (of the 200,000 ft2 cap) 
Sole approx. 76,000 ft2 
Okanagan Centre for Innovation approx. 106,000 ft2 

 
Partial exemption for next project 

180



D E V E L O P M E N T  
S I T E S  

181



D I S C U S S I O N  

Tax Incentive Area 3 healthy 
Recent infrastructure investments 

Bernard Avenue Revitalization 
Stuart Park 
Transit Exchange 

Financial cost of continuing 
 

182



R E C O M M E N D AT I O N  

THAT Council directs staff not to extend the 
exemptions in Tax Incentive Area 3 beyond the existing 
200,000 square foot threshold. 
Purpose-built rental housing 

183



M O V I N G  F O RWA R D  

 
Ongoing monitoring and reporting 

184

http://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://www.cantechletter.com/2014/05/kelowna-set-break-ground-okanagan-innovation-centre/&ei=_ns5VerpHZe3ogTBvIAw&bvm=bv.91665533,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNFH_AufMWHQcluIFSr1seAP5u_F1w&ust=1429917051412997
http://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://www.integralgroup.com/new-interior-health-authority-building-going-up-in-kelowna/&ei=MHw5VaDLNI-qogTw4IDQBw&bvm=bv.91665533,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNFT1mq4UIJaHiD0jJkha6f9o48DCg&ust=1429917091764094
http://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://www.castanet.net/news/Kelowna/121758/No-opposition-to-downtown-hotel&ei=Vnw5VaaHM8PyoASemICQCw&bvm=bv.91665533,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNFT1mq4UIJaHiD0jJkha6f9o48DCg&ust=1429917091764094
http://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://www.teamconstruction.ca/portfolio-category/commercial-projects/&ei=hnw5VZKLHYmuoQSA-4CADA&bvm=bv.91665533,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNF2Qzvm8iB9f0ZqkA-ZvI_BKpdkHQ&ust=1429917185644909


Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
August 10, 2015 
 

File: 
 

0600-30 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

City Clerk 

Subject: 
 

Amendment to Sanitary Sewer Spec. Area No. 18 (Caramillo) 

 Report Prepared by: C.Boback, Legislative Coordinator 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receive the Certificate of Sufficiency dated July 23, 2015 regarding the Local 
Area Service Petition to add Lot 12, Section 31 & 32, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 20929 located 
at 589 Clifton Avenue to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 (Caramillo); 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11125 being Amendment No. 1 to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 
(Caramillo) Bylaw No. 7724 be forwarded for reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To submit the Certificate of Sufficiency for the Local Area Service to add 589 Clifton Avenue 
to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 (Caramillo).  
 
Background: 
 
The property owners approached Staff regarding a sewer service connection to the sanitary 
main.  The closest and more cost efficient location to connect to a sewer main is through the 
backyard of the subject property joining Sewer Specified Area No. 18.  The property owner 
has hired a contractor to perform the works on both the public and private side of the 
property.  City crews will oversee the service connection to sanitary main to assure 
procedures are followed correctly. 
  
Under the Community Charter, to enlarge or reduce a Local Area Service (previously also 
known as a “Sewer Specified Area”), a petition is required.    Staff received a valid petition 
form from the property owners on July 23, 2015.  An amendment to Sanitary Sewer Specified 
Area No. 18 (Caramillo) Bylaw No. 7724 is required in order to add this subject property.   
Bylaw No. 11125 can now be forwarded for reading consideration. After the bylaw is adopted, 
the owner may proceed with the proposed work. 
 
 

185



 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Section 218 Community Charter, Enlargement or reduction of local service area 
Section 211 Community Charter, Requirements for establishing a local area service 
Section 212 Community Charter, Petition for local area service 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Under the Community Charter, in order for petition forms for the proposed Local Area Service 
Enlargement to be considered valid, petitions  must be received by the Officer responsible for 
Corporate Administration (the City Clerk) and must be certified as sufficient or not, according 
to the requirements of the legislation and presented to a Council. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
S. Fleming, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 (R. Mayne) 
 
 
cc:  
M. Friesen, Revenue 
J. Angus, Utility Planning 
 

  

186



 
 

CITY OF KELOWNA 

 CERTIFICATE OF SUFFICIENCY 

 

I hereby certify that sufficient petitions HAVE been received in relation to adding Lot 12, 
Section 31 & 32, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 20929 located at 589 Clifton Avenue for the 
enlargement of Sewer Specified Area No. 28 (Caramillo) Bylaw No. 7724. 
 
 
Dated this 31st day of July, 2015. 

 

S. Fleming, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Description of Proposal 

 

Number of Signatures from 
Valid Owners Required 

 

Number of Valid 

Responses Received 

 

 

Adding Lot 12, Section 31 & 32, Township 
26, ODYD, Plan 20929 located at 589 
Clifton Avenue for the enlargement of 
Sewer Specified Area No. 28 (Caramillo) 
Bylaw No. 7724. 

 

 

1 

 

1 

  

187



 

 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11125 
 

Amendment No. 1 to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18  
Bylaw No. 7724 (Caramillo) 

 

 

WHEREAS pursuant to the provisions of Section 218 of the Community Charter provides that Council 
may, by bylaw, reduce or enlarge the size of a local area service; 
 

AND WHEREAS pursuant to the provisions of Section 211 of the Community Charter, and 
amendments thereto, states that the Council of the City of Kelowna must adopt a bylaw to 
establish a local area service and its cost recoveries; 

 
AND WHEREAS pursuant to the provision of Section 212 of the Community Charter, the Council of 
the City of Kelowna has received a valid petition from the owners of Lot 12, Section 31 & 32, 

Township 26, ODYD, Plan 20929 located at 589 Clifton Road to be included in the City of Kelowna 
Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 Bylaw No. 7724; 
 

AND WHEREAS the Municipal Officer assigned the responsibility for Corporate Administration for the 
City of Kelowna under Section 148 of the Community Charter has determined the sufficiency of the 
petition under the provisions of Section 212 of the Community Charter; 

 
AND WHEREAS the provisions of Part 7, Division 5, of the Community Charter have been complied 
with;  
 
NOW THEREFORE the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, enacts 
as follows: 

 

1. THAT the servicing boundary of Local Service Area, formly known as Sewer Specified Area 
No. 18 (Caramillo), established by Bylaw No. 7724, be amended by adding Lot 12, Section 31 
& 32, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 20929. 

 
2. AND THAT Bylaw No. 7724 being Sewer Specified Are No. 18 (Caramillo) be amended by 

deleting Schedule ‘A’ in its entirety and replacing it with a new Schedule ‘A’ as attached to 

and forming part of this bylaw. 
 
3. AND THAT the owners are hereby authorized to provide, operate, maintain and to undertake 

and carry out, or cause to be carried out, the construction of the hook up to the sewer 
sewer. 

 

4. AND FURTHER THAT the estimated cost of the work is $1213.00 to be borne upon the owners 
of Lot 12, Section 31 & 32, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 20929 located at 589 Clifton Road prior 
to sanitary sewer connection. 

 
5. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect and is binding on all persons as and from the 

date of adoption. 

 

188



 

 

6. This bylaw shall be cited for all purposes as "Bylaw No. 11125, being Amendment No. 1 to 
Local Area Service (Sewer Specified Area) No. 18 Bylaw No. 7724 (Caramillo)". 

 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this   
 

Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 

 
 

Mayor 
 
 

 
 

City Clerk 
 

189



 

 

 

 

Schedule “A” 

 

  

190



 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
 

BYLAW NO. 11115 

 

A Bylaw to Rename a Portion of Quail Ridge Boulevard 
 
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna deems it desirable for a portion of 
Quail Ridge Boulevard to be renamed Pier Mac Way in the City of Kelowna; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. THAT the name of a portion of Quail Ridge Boulevard be changed to Pier Mac Way as 

outlined in Map “A” attached to and forming part of this bylaw; 
 
2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Renaming a Portion of Quail Ridge 

Boulevard to Pier Mac Way Name Change Bylaw No. 11115”. 
 
 
Read a first, second and third time by the Municipal Council this   
 
Adopted by the Municipal Council of the City of Kelowna this   
 
 
 
 
 

 
Mayor 

 
 
 

 
City Clerk 

  

191



 BL11115 – Page 2 
 

Map “A”  

 

192


	Agenda
	2. Draft Minutes - July 27, 2015 PM Regular Meeting.pdf
	3.1 A15-0005 Belgo Rd 2015.pdf
	3.1 A15-0005 - Council - Schedule A.pdf
	3.1 A15-0005 - Council - Schedule B.pdf
	3.1 A15-0005 Attachment - Farm Residential Footprint Min Ag.pdf
	3.1 A15-0005 Subject Property ALR Map Att.pdf
	3.1 A15-0005 Homesite Proposed Lot.pdf
	3.2 Graham Rd 1285 Report Z15-0029.pdf
	3.2 Graham Rd 1285 Attachments Z15-0029.pdf
	3.3 BL11126 Z15-0029 Graham Road 1285.pdf
	3.4 Hwy 33 E 1457 Report Z15-0020.pdf
	3.4 Highway 33 E 1457 Attachments Z15-0020.pdf
	3.5 BL11129 Z15-0020 Highway 33 East 1457.pdf
	4.1 BL11041 Z14-0039 2046 Pandosy Street.pdf
	4.2 BL11056 - OCP15-0002 - Shared Gardens Amendments to OPC Bylaw No. 10500.pdf
	4.3 BL11096 - TA15-0001- Amendments to Include Shared and Community Gardens.pdf
	4.4 BL11069 LUC15-0001 1890 Baron Road.pdf
	4.5 BL11104 - Z15-0012 - 883 McCurdy Place - Hyatt Auto Sales Ltd.pdf
	5.1 Quarterly Report Update.pdf
	5.1 2015-Q2_quarterly-report_presentation.pdf
	5.2 Report to Council Fire and Life Safety Bylaw Amendment-Final.pdf
	5.3 BL11116 -Amendment No. 1 to Fire and Life Safety Bylaw No. 10760.pdf
	5.4 BL11117 - Amendment No. 11 to Bylaw Notice Enforcement Bylaw No. 10475.pdf
	5.5 Dickson Ave 1525 Report RTE14-0003.pdf
	5.5 Dickson Ave 1525 Attachments RTE14-0003.pdf
	5.6 BL11127 - Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw - 1525 Dickson Ave.pdf
	5.7 Ethel St 2127 Report RTE15-0001.pdf
	5.7 Ethel St 2127 Attachments RTE15-0001.pdf
	5.8 BL11128 - Housing Agreement Authorization Bylaw -2127 Ethel Street.pdf
	5.9 Fringe Area Planning Agreement.pdf
	5.9 RDCO-Kelowna FPA Part 26 Agreement 2016-2020 v4.pdf
	5.10 Revitalization Tax Exemption - Area 3 Update.pdf
	5.10 Attachment 1 - City Centre.pdf
	5.10 Revitalization Tax Exemptions_Area 3 Council Presentation.pdf
	5.11 Amendment to Sanitary Sewer Spec Area No. 18.pdf
	5.12 BL11125 - Amendment No. 1 to Sanitary Sewer Specified Area No. 18 Bylaw No. 7724.pdf
	6.1 BL11115 - Road Name Change - Renaming Portion of Quail Ridge to Pier Mac Way.pdf

